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One Ashburton Place: Room 503
Boston, MA 02108
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DECISION

Pursuant to G.L. ¢. 31, § 2(b) and/or G.L. ¢. 7, § 4H, a Magistrate from the Division of
Administrative Law Appeals (DALA), was assigned to conduct a full evidentiary hearing
regarding this matter on behalf of the Civil Service Commission (Commission).

Pursuant to 801 CMR 1.01 (11) (c), the Magistrate issued the attached Tentative Decision to
the Commission. The parties had thirty (30) days to provide written objections to the
Commission. The Appellant submitted written objections to the Tentative Decision and the
Respondent submitted a response to the Appellant’s objections.

After careful review and consideration, the Commission voted to affirm and adopt the
Tentative Decision of the Magistrate in whole, thus making this the Final Decision of the
Commission.

The decision of the Town of Middleboro to terminate Mr. Levesque as a police officer is
affirmed and Mr. Levesque’s appeal under Docket No. D1-12-228 is hereby denied.

By vote of the Civil Service Commission (Bowman, Chairman; Ittleman, McDowell and
Stein, Commisgioners) on May 1, 2014,

Christopher F Bowman
Chairman

Either party may file a motion for reconsideration within ten days of the receipt of this Commission order or
decision. Under the pertinent provisions of the Code of Mass. Regulations, 801 CMR 1,01(7)(1), the moticn must
identify a clerical or mechanical error in this order or decision or a significant factor the Agency or the Presiding
Officer may have overlooked in deciding the case. A motion for reconsideration does not toll the statutorily
prescribed thirty-day time limit for seeking judicial review of this Commission order or decision.



Under the provisions of G.L c. 31, § 44, any party aggrieved by this Commission order or decision may initiate
proceedings for judicial review under G.L. c. 30A, § 14 in the superior court within thirty (30) days afier receipt
of this order or decision. Commencement of such proceeding shall not, unless specifically ordered by the court,
operate as a stay of this Commission order or decision.
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SUMMARY OF TENTATIVE DECISION
The Tovwm of Middleborough had just cause to terminate the Appellant from his position
as police officer for violating the terms of his last chance agreement. The Appellant filed
inaccurate grant activity reports and contacted a witness, in violation of the police chief’s order,
during the ensuing police department investigation. I therefore recommend that the Civil Service -
Commission dismiss the appeal. _
- TENTATIVE DECISION
INTRODUCTION
- The Appe]lant, Adam Levesque, pursuant to G.L. c. 31, § 43, filed a timely appeal with

- the Civil Service Commission (Coromission) on August 10, 2012, claiming that the Town of
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l\/hddleborough dld not hatfe jest cause to termmate him frotn his pos1t10n as pohce ofﬁeer The |
. Appellant had SIgned a last chanee agreement (LCA or Ag:reement) on August 6, 2010 after the

Depamnent found that he compromlsed a drug mvesugatmn by mfonmag an alleged drug dealer

that he was under police sUrt’eiHanee; (Exhibit 3'.) "f‘he Agreement ptoxdded that the._Board'of
Selectmen would have Jjust cause to dismieé the Appeﬂaat it‘ he. engaged in any future '
mlsconduct The Board of Selectmen ten:nmatec't the Appellant on Juiy 23, 2012 after ﬁndlng that .
he had viclated the Agreement

A pre—hea;rmg conference was held on September 11, 2012 at the efﬁces of the
COIIJJI}}SSIO]J, One Ashburton Place, Room 503, Boston, MA 02108, On November 26,2012, the
Appeilant filed a mation to amend his complamt to include a claim for violation for G L.c.31, 8
42. That motion was later withdrawn.

Qn November 27, 2012, pursuant to 801 CMR 1.01(11)}c), a Magietrate from the
Dtvision of Ad:[pinistrative Law Appeals (DALA) eonducte(t a full hearing at the offices of the
Commission, in accordance with the Formal Rules of the Standard Rules of Practice and |
Procedure. 801 CMR 1.01. The hearing was continued on January 31 5 2013 and February 6,
2013 at the Middleborough Town Hall, 20 Center Street, Middleborough, MA 02346.

The Appe]lant called William James Ferdinand, a Speclal Police Officer and a .
Comm1351oner of the Mlddleborough Board of Park Commlssmners and Francis Cass, the
Middleborough Parks Superintendent. The Appeitant_also subpoenaed Sergeant David Beals, Jr.
and testified orl his own behalf. The Respondent ealled Police Chief Bruce D. Gates.

© The witnesses were sequestered. The stenographic transcript serves as the official record
of this hearing. As no notice was received from either pafty, the _hearhtg was declared private.

I marked the Respondent’s Pre-Hearing Memorandum “A” for identification. I-admitted
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t]:nrty ~seven (3 7) Jomt exh1b1ts mto ewdence I admltted the Appellant s bypass appeal form as
Exlnblt 38 I adnntted the Snpulated Faets s1gned by the parties at the September ll 2012 pre-
| hearmg conference as Exlnbf[ 39. Both parnes subnntted thelr post-hearing bnefs on April 29
2(}13 Whereupon the admmistratwe record closecl 7

FINDINGS OF FACT

Based on ‘che documents entered-into evldence and the testimony of the witnesses, 1 make
the follomng ﬁndmgs of fact

1. The Appellant Adam Levesque has been a patrolrnan in the M’Jddleboreugh
Policel Department (Department) since June, 2001. (Exhibits 38 and 39; Testimony of the
Ap_pellanl.) o '

2, | _ The Board of Selectmen is the appointlng authority for the Department. (Exhibit
1.} | |

3. Chief Bruce D. Gates has been chief of the Department since 2009 and has been a
police officer for almost thirty years. .(Tesftimony of Chief Gates.)

4. The conduect of police ofﬁéers is governed by the Middleborengh Police
Department Rules andl Regnlaﬁons. T]:lese Rules and Regulétions were in effect at all times
relevant to this matter. (Exhibit 28; Tentlmony of Chief Gates.)
| A | Appellnnr s Prevl'ous Dlscipline )

5. In 2010, a detective placed a global positioning systern (GPS) device on the
vehicle of JP, the target of a Department drug investigation. JP was a repeat offender for dnug
_and brealdng—and—enterjng offenses and had been arrested numerous times. After the Department
lost the ability to tracle the suspect, JW, who was JP’s cousin and also a suspected drug dealer,

informed Det. Lake that he had “ipped off” JP after receiving knowledge of the surveillance



Adam Levesque v Town;of Mddleoo%oogh_‘ _. - B | e DI -1 2-228, CS»-I 2-667 |
| fton:t Levesque. The eurveitlauee was compnsed, and the DepMerlt lost the GPS .devilce.,
' (Exhibit 3.) _' | o | | 7
| 6. A General Policy of the i)eparﬁnent’ dated February 3 1.969 provides:
Zj No police officer ... will discuss any case outside thrs Department w1thout
- prior permission from the Chief of Police, .
E)) In the event any ... [officers] are approached by any individual for Pohce

- information they will refer the individual to the Police Station...

4y There will be no deviation from this order. ‘
| (Exhibit 5.) |
h7. Lieutenant David M. Mackiewicz islthe Ofﬁcer in charge ot Internal Affa]IS for
" the Department. In January 2010, Chief Gatés dirccted him to conduct an Internaleffa:irs"
investigation into the allegation of Whether the Appellant 'had eomprormsed a Department
investigation by improperly revealing that [JP] was under surveﬂlance ? After eonductmg a
thorough mvestrgatmn, on .Tuly 16, 2(}10 Lt. Mackiewicz op]_ned that the allegatlon was not
corroborated and should be considered “UNSUBSTANTIATED.” (Exhibits 4 and 27.)

8. In the rrleantime, the Department pursued aniovestigation seperate from that of
Intemai Affairs. The Department found that the Appellant failed to provide complete
information and anewers, despite specific written end verbal directives from Chief Gates. Later
questioning reveated that the Appellant lived next door to the suspeet’s girlfrlend, and that the
Appe]lant’s wtfe and the suspect”s girlfriend sometimes waited 'at the same bus stop. (See supra
Finding of Fact 5; Exhibit 3; Testimony of Cass.) | |

9. The Department charged the Appellant w1th alerting the suspected drug dealer of

the Department investigatron. The Appellant was subject fo discipline up o or including

termination. (Testimony of Chief Gates.)




" Adam Levesque v. Tows of Middleborough . D112-228,CS-12-667

- B.A ’ Ldsf Chance A“g%eemeuf:

10, On Augusi 6,201 0 the Anpeuunt signed a Lasf Chénce Agreement with the
Beard of Selectmen in heu of tern:unatlon The Appella.nt was suspended Wlthout pay for eight
| work sl:ufts to be served at the c}nefs chseretwn within the ensuing twelve months In
Aeons1derat10n for the Appellant’s acceptance of the Agreement dlsclphne the Town agreed not to
pursue fuﬁher d1501ph11ary actlon The LCA also included the followmg terms:

- Levesque denies thai he Jntenuona]ly t1pped oﬂ [JP] about the surveiflance. The
Middleborough Police Department’s internal Investlgatlon will find that the charge
that Levesque alerted [JP] was unfounded

Levesque adimits to the Department finding that he shared with his wife details of the
ongoing mvesugauon of [JP] and that was a violation of the Deparnnent’s rules and
regulations.

Levesque admits that there is sufficient evidence to support a Department finding
that, in the Department’s investigation of whether he was fesponsible for [JP] being
tipped off, he failed to provide complete information despite specific written and
verbal directives given to him by the Chief and that this was a violation. of the
Department’s rules and regulations. Levesque denies that he purposely withheld any
information, but admits he could have given more complete and definitive
information. ...

Levesque will not retaliate in any manner against ... [JP], [the drug dealer’s cousin]
and the [drug dealer’s girlfriend.] Except in emergency situations, he shall refrain
from contact with such individuals without advance nouce to and the presence or
approval of a supervisor.

(Exhibits 3, 27 and 28.)
11.  Inthe Agreement, the Appellant agreed:

This is Levesque’s last chance to refrain from any other conduct warranting a suspension of
any length without pay. Ifthe Police Chief and/or the Board of Selectmen determine that
Levesque has engaged in conduct warranting a suspension without pay of any length,
including for a failure to comply with any term(s) of this Agreement, the Town will have
just canse to discharge Levesque. Any appeal of the discharge will be limited to the issue of
whether the conduet resulting in the suspension without pay of any length occurred. Ifitis
determined in any appeal proceeding that the conduct occurred, dismissal will be the
appropriate level of discipline and it is not subject to appeal. '

(Exhlblt 3.) (empha515 supphed )
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C. T he Insmnt Appeal
' 12. ‘_ From May 14 u.ntll June 3 2012 the Department parnc1pated n the Chck It or
Ticket gra.nt program funded by the nghway Safety D1v1510n of the Massachusetts Execunve
Office of Public Safety (EOPS) The grant prowded overtnne pay for high V131b1hty pohce
presence, Whereby pohce ofﬁcers would puH over motorists fcr motor Vehlcle violations, and
SLmultanecusly issue citations for chlld/adul*f seat belt vmlatlons (Exlnblts 6,7,8,21 and 23;
: Testnnony of C]:uef Gates Testlmony of Beals Testnnony of the’ Appellant ) -
| 13, Sergeant Dav1d A, Beals, Iz, the De_parhnent’s g;rant coor:_imator, was the
snperyisor for the pro grarm. Uncler the g_rant,- police cfﬁcerspfere required to pull over three
motorists per hour. The pelice officers lelso had to doeument- the motcr vehicle stops on Traffic .
_ Enforcement Grant Act';vity Reports (gtnnt activity reports), and place t]iem in Sgt. Beals’s
' mailbox in order to get paid. In an email da‘;ed May 17; 2.0'12, Sgt. Beals advised the officers
tnaf in the event one was unable to make the fequired three stope per honr, f[he officer had to note
the reason on the grant activity sheet. Sgt. Beale also noted tnat if an officer n;ade an arrest
while cn the Click—It,or.Ticket pfo gram, it would be expected that the number of motor vehicle
stops would be affected. (Exhibits 6, 7, 8, 21 and 23; Testimony of Chief Gates, Test'nnony of |
Beals, Testimony cf the Appellant.)
14, William Eerdnnand, a graduate of the Plymouth Trajlﬁ.ng Acaderny, has worked ns
a special police ofﬁcer (SPO) for four years. He nopes to be a patrol officer in the Department
- someday. 'His duties as-a SPO inciude Walking beats, Working details, and volnnteering at |
parades or other evens at che direction of the chicf. He serves the Town as Chaitman of the

Parks Commissicn, a voluntary position. Ferdinand_worke at the convenience store of A-Prime,

N ! Pursuant to M.G.L. ¢. 90, § 13A, seat belt violations may only be enforced as a secondary
violation. (Exhibit 32.)
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a gas statron located on ngh Street in l\/hddleborough and overmght at Hannaford’s grocery
store (Testlmony of Ferdmand ) o |

15. Ferdmand has been the Appellant’s best friend for the past ten years. Not only
was the Appellant’s father Ferdinand’s baseball coach, but F erdmand and the Appellant’s brother
played on the same baseball tearm. The Appe]lant and Ferdinand have also coached sports |
together. Ferdinand was a guest at the Appellant’s Wedcimg, and is the godfather of one of the

" Appellant’s children. Ferdma:zd is so close to the Appellant’s fa.rmly that the Appellant’
ehrldren fondly oall him ¢ uncle ? (Tesﬁmony ‘of the Appellant, Testrrnony of F erdrnand )

16. Asa specral polrce officer, Ferdinand was required to ride along with a regular |
palice officer. He had ridden along with the Appellant in a previous Click-It or Ticket program,
and they hadr taken turns conducting motor vehicle stops. (Testimony of F erdjnand.)_

17. Fra:ocis Cass has been the Town of Middleborough Park Super'mtendent for

- twenty-two years. He has been friends with ttze Appellant for fifteen years. The Appellant

| worked for the Parks Department duting the summers wher he was a teenager, and was a
maintenance worker in the ‘Parks'Deparfment unti! he became a police officer. As
supermtendent he is Ferdmand’s supervisor. Cass, Ferdinand, and the Appellant have all
coached football together At one point, the Appellant played asa quarterback for Cassina
semi-pro football team. (Testlmony of the Appellant, Testimony of Cass.)

18. - The Appellant worked overtin:re in the Click-It or Ticket program on May 17,
2012 from 12:00 pam. to 4:00 p.m. On May 23, 2012, he worked overtime in the Click—It or
Ticket program from 8:00 a.m. to 12:O(l p-m.. He l_tad participated in the program 1pefore without
incident. He submitted his grant activity reports to the Department as required. (Exhibit 6;

Testimony of Chief Gates, Testimony of the Appell_ant.j
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19, Sergeant Deborah A. l3atiata Iegularly feﬁet:v'ed entties in the ‘Departme.r.lt’s‘
pohce log On May 30th she emaﬂed Sgt Beals about the Appellant s May 29,2012 log entrles g
which reported stops of both SPO F erdmancl and Cass She was conoemed t_hat the Appellant |
. was “fudgmg” stops (Exh1b1t 25 Test:lmony of Beals )

20. OnJunes, 2012 Sergeant John Graham was alerted that the Appellant had listed
two of his fmends as motor vehicle stops Whlle asslgned to the Chck—lt or T1oket program on
May 29, 2012, Sgt. Graham exammed the log and found that the App._ellant had conducted a
tl'afﬁc stop of Ferdinand at Plympton and Thomson Sl:reets at 10:26:52. He 'had also conduoted a
traffic stop of Caa-a on Jackson Street at 1-0:40:36_, (Exhibit 11.)

21.  This was not the first time that the Appellant had listed friends on a grant activity
| report. He had listed Ferdinand as a motor vehicie stop on April lO,- 2009 and on May 26, 20l0.
'On those oocasions he 1isted Ferdinand’s registration, but omitted his name. (Testimony of
Ferdinand.) | |

22.  Atthe end of his shlft on Iupe 5,2012, Sgt. Graha.m, a local girls’ softball coach,
went to a local playg_r'ound to inapect field conditions. He ran into Park Superintendent Cass and

asked him whether the May 29, 2012 motor Vehlole stop had occurred. Cass said no. He said
that the Appellant had pulled up while he was at the park working. Cass then sat:v the Appellant
writing down l]is license plate number on a piece of paper. When Cass asked the Appeliant what
he was doing, he said not to won'y,‘I won'’t enter it into the ooniputer. Sgt. Graham then |

| informed Cass that he had seen his mformahon in the Department log (Exlnblts 11,13 and 14;
' Testlmony of Beals Testimony of Cass.) ‘
23, When Sgt. Graham called St. Feireira as he was leaving the park, they bofh

agreed to contact Sgt. Beals because he was in charge of Click-it an_d Ticket and was already
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7 mvestlca‘tmg the Appe}lant’s enmes Later that day, S gt Graham approached Sgt. Beals and
updated hlm on his conversa‘uon Wlﬂl Cass (EXhlbIt 11 Testlmony of Beals ) |

24. . On June 6, 2012, Sgt. Ferreira approached Sgt. Beals and let him know Vof his
eonveraation.\arith S gt Graham .S gt Beals iater‘ 5poke:to Lieuf:enant Peter Andrade a‘oout what
he had chscovered about the Appellant and the May 2012 motor vehicle stops. Lt Andrade _‘

‘ -ordered S gt. Beals to sublmt areport to th along with coples of the relevant supportmg
documents S gl: Graham alsa subnutted a memorandum to Lt. Andrade (Exh1b1ts 11 and 33
Tesmnony of Beals ) | o |

25, On June 7, 2012, Sgt Beals submitted amemorandum to Lt. Andrade He -

| reported that according to the Appellant’s grant activity sheets, he had stopped Ferdinand While
he was operating a-gray 1989 Dodge Dynasty on May 23, 2012 at 13:02 at A Prime oo High
Street. Ferdmand was the fourth S;Lop listed. According to the grant activity sheets, the
Appellant again stoploed Ferdinand, operating a gray 1989 Dodge Dynastsr on May 29, 2012 at -

10:26 at Plympton and Thompson Stree-ts. Ferdinand Waa his eleventh stop for the day. The

Appellant also pulied over Cass, operating a red 1999 Chevy 1500, at 10:40 on Jackson Street.

He recorded Cass as the twelfth stop. (Exhibit 33.) - |

| 26. On June 7, 2.012, Sgt. Graham and Lt. Andrade interviewed Cass at the police

station. Sgt. Graham asked Cass if he feoalled his inteaaction with the Appellant on May 29,

2012. Cass said that that day he had heen working at the Pierce Piayg’round when the Api)eliant

pulled up in his cruiser. While working, Cass o_bserved the Appellant writing down the license

~ plate number of his parked vehicle. When Casa as.ked- him what he was doing, the Appellant said

that he needed another stop for his Click-it or Ticket grant, but that he v?ould not enter Cass’s

information into the system. Cass said that he did not want his information entered in the poliee_
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' computers and the Appellant assured him that that Would not be the case. S gt Graham asked
Cass whether he had been operatmg the motor velncle and had been pu]led over by the Appellant
' W1th actlvated blue llghts Cass 1n51sted that the motor velncle had been parked but that dur]ng ‘
then~ conversanon the Appellant had remarked that he had a bad shock. Cass also dlsclosed that
he had seen the Appellant carlier in the day while they were both operatmg motor velncles but
that at no time had he been sub; ect to a motor vehicle stop (Exhllnts 13 and 14; Testnnony of
'tlle Appellant Testnnony of Cass ) L
' 27. Cass subm.ttted a V1et1m/W1tness statement 1o the Deparnnent on June 7 2012.
He stated therein: -
While parked at Pierce Playgreend in front of the Masi Field I was -approached bya
police cruiser. Inside the cruiser was officer Levesque. Mr. Levesque asked me if T
might assist him with a program that the Police Dept. had been participating in. He
informed me that he needed to pull over a few vehicles, + asked if I'd mind having my

truck “pulled over” for a stop. I said I didn’t mind helping but that I didn’t want any
aspect of my part1c1pat1on to be put in the eomputer

(Exh1b1t 14 ) |
: 28. OnJune 7, 2012, Lt. Andrade interviewed F erdmand at the police station. He

advised Ferdinand that the interview was eonﬁdentlal and that any dlselosure could lead to his
dismissal from the Depa:rtment Durmg the interview, Ferdinand denied that the Appellant had
stopped him on May 23 and May 29, 2012. Ferdinand said that he had not discussed the alleged
motor Velnele steps with the Appellant but that he had discussed the matter with Cass. |
(Exhibits12 Bnd 18; Testimony of Ferclznand)
-+ 29, All police officers in the Department are subject to eertain standards-of required
‘ conduct, including truthfulness and conduct becoming an officer. The Rules and Re gulations

provide:

10
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Section L. Rules and Regulatlons C. General Conduct on Duty
1. Reguired Conduct. C :
c. Submitting Reports. Promptly and accurately complete and subnnt a11 reports .
and forms as required. o
e. Truthfulness.” An officer shall tmﬂzfully state the facts in alI reports as well as
when he appea:s before any judicial, departmental or other official investigation,

~ hearing, trial or proceeding. He shali cooperate fully in all phases of such
investigation, hearings, trials and proceedmgs :

2. Prohibited Conduct

The following acts by a member of the Department are prohlblted or restrlcted

b. Improper or Unsuitable Conduct. Any type of misconduct which reflects discredit upon
- the member as a police ofﬁcer or upon his fellow oﬁcers or upon the pohce department

he serves. :

-(Exhibit 28)
30, -After the June 7, 2012 interviews of Cass and Ferdinand, Lt. And.r‘aclie andS gt.'
- Graham submitted memoranda to Chief Gatesl. (Exhibits 12 and 13.) |
31.  Afier receiving the memoranda, Chief Gates hand-delivered an order to the
Appellant on June 7,2012, immediately placing him on administrative leave. In that order, the
chief advised the Appellant that the Department was investigating his May 25 and May 29, 2{)A12
grant activity reports. The order directed tilat:
While on paid administrative leave, you are prohibited ﬂom exercising any
authority or privileges of a Middleborough Police Officer. You mustiurnin any -
property of the Department, including your badge, Police Identification card and

Sig Sauer P226 weapon serial # ... . If you need to come to the Police Station,
you can only do so with advance notice to and permission from me.

- You are not to take any action, directly or indirectly, that would tend to
discourage, persuade, or refaliate against a witness with respect to that witness’ .
truthful cooperation in this matter, including but not limited to William J.
Ferdinand and Francis I. Cass and any employee of the Middleborough Police
Department ' _

You are not to discuss this matter with anyone except me and if you choose your
legal representatives,

Y our failure to abide by the terms of your administrative leave and/or obey any of
the other directives above will constitute grounds for discipline, up to and

11
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including dismmissal. This is separate and apart from any discipline that arises
from substantiation of any charges that result from the investigation.

 (Exhibit 2.)
.32, The Appellant did not challenge the chief’s order Police ofﬁcers may challencre

an order according to Department Rules and Regulanons

Section 1. Rules and Regulatlons B. Professmnal Conduct and Respon&bﬁfnes 2.

" Orders.

a. General Orders. General Orders are permanent written orders Lssued by the

Chief of Police outlining policy matters which affect the entire Department. A

General Order is the most authoritative written order the Chief issues, and may be .

used to amend, supersede or cancel any previous order. General Orders remain in

full effect until amended, superseded or cancelled by the Chief. .

¢. Unlawfil orders. No member shall knowingly issue an orcler in wolatlon of
*any law or any departmental regulation. Unlawful orders shall not be obeyed.

The subordinate shall notify the ordering officer of the illegality of his order.

Responsibility for refusal to obey rests with the subordinate. He shall be strictly

required to justify his action.

* d. Unjust or Improper Orders. Lawful orders which appear to be unjust or
improper shall be carried out. - After carrying out the orders, the subordinate may
file a written report to the Chief via the chain of command indicating the
circumstances and the reasons for quesnomng the orders, along with his request
for clarlﬁcatlon of departmental poklcy. .. :

(Exhibit 28.)

33. The Department illvestiga_tiqn revealed that thp Appeilant’s May 23, 2012
reported stop of Ferdinand was not basecl l:ln a motor vehicle $t0p, ‘but ona telephone call. The
Appellant called Ferdinand while he was working at A-Prime. Ferdinand’s motor vehicle was A

, parked in the gas station’s parking lot. During the personalrtelephone rcall, the Appellant
mentioned Ferdinand’s broken clﬁver’s side window. The Appellalnt had lmolwﬁ about the
. bloken window for a Jong time. (Exhibits 21 and 22 ; Teétimony of Chief Gates, Testimony clf

Ferdinand.)

12
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l34. The Department mvestlgatlon revealed that the Appellant’s May 29 20 12
reported stop of Ferdmand was not based on a Inotor vehicle stop, but ona sequenee of text_ '

.messages: .

Levesque Stopping u again.. .l (szc) [1aug]:ung out loud]

- Ferdinand: What for this time?

Levesque Speeding Lol. [laughing out loud] -

Ferdinand; Thanks a lot jack ass.

 (Exhibits 22, 23 and 24) |

35, At the time the text meSsages were et(changed F erdinand was dnvmg to the
Appellant’s house to house- sit while workmen made repairs. (Exlnbits 22 and 24 Testnnony of
the Appellant, Testlmony of Ferdmand)

36.  The Department investigatlon revealed that the A'ppellant’s,l\/lay: 29, 2012 .
reported stop of Cass was not 'based on a motor vehicle stop, but on a Yisi_t to Cass Whilehe was
working at theParl( Department. Duriné their conversation, the Appelllant noticed that Cass’s
parked vehicle was missing a shock absorber. Cass said that his father had not had the time to |
fix it. The Appellant told Cass that he was going to list him down as a stop under the grant
Casé acquiesced after being reassured that his information wonld not be listed in the Department

| computer. (Exhibit 14; Testimony of the Appellant, Testimonynef Cass.) |

37.  Chief Gates contacted EOPS about the Appellant’s inaccurate grant activity
reports. He was informed that there would be no repereuesions as long ag the Department did not
seek re1mbursernent for the overtime shifts. The Department did not submit the Appellant’
grant activity reports for May 23 and 29, 2012 to EOPS. The rennbursement to the Appeliant

totaled three hundred and seventy—ﬁve dollars, paid from Department funds. (Testimony of

Chief Gates.)
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., 38. _" : Chief Gates informed the Plymouth County Dislrlet Attorney’s office about the -

. 'Appellant’a inaccurate gfant aeﬁvlty reports. The Chief learned that the Appel_lant’s"petﬁdy
would have to be discleSed to defense counsel as exenlpatory evidence. (Testimony of Chief

- Gates.)

'39'.: A feW days after the chlef’s June 7, 2012 order tbe Appellant called Ferdlnand
and mv1ted him to lns home Tl:te Appellant said that the famﬂy dog was dying. When

Ferdmand arnved, the Appellant said that he was on admiinistrative leave asa result of his motor

Velncle stops The Appellant also chselosed that he was worned about losing his JOb The

Appellant then asked Ferdinand whether he had been Intemewed Ferdmand said that he could

' not talk about 1t The Appellant asked a seeond time, and F erdinand again declJ.necl to discuss 1t

When the Appellant pressed hnn a tthd time, Ferdmand prowded him with the interview
questions and Ferdinand’s responses. During this conversation, Ferdinand revealed that he had '
told investigators that he had traveled to the Appellant’s home, after his overnight shift at

Hannaford’s, via Plymouth Street on the morning of May 29, 2012. (Exhibit 18; Testimony of ~

_tlle Appellant, Testimony of Ferdinand.)

40. OnlJune 25, 2015, Chief Gates issued the Appellant a Notice of Charges and

was as follows:

You falsely claimed that you had made motor vehicie stops on May 23 and 29,
2012 in connection with a grant that paid you overtime.but required you to make a
minimum number of such stops during a four hour overtime shift; you did so less
than two years after signing a last chance agreement under which you agreed that
conduct that warranted a suspension of any length in the future would mean your
dismissal,

(Exhibit 15.)
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| 41. The Notlee of Charges and Dismissal further adwsed the Appellant that he was .
" subJ ect to a Last Chance Agreement (See Supra Fmdmgs of Fact 10 and 11; Exlublt 15 ) |
_ 4. On June 28, 2012 the cl:uef Ferdmand and the Appellant appeared at the §41 |
. _healmg The Appellant testlﬁed about his May 29, 2012 motor vel:ucle stop of Ferdmand He
~ testified that he had erred When he l1sted the stop as occumng at Plympton and Thompson B
Streets on the grant act1v1ty reports He reoounted that the stop had occurred near the Church of
' the Green, where Plymouth, Plympton East Mam and Wood Streets all mtersect and ﬂ1at he
meant to write Plympton/Plymouth on the grant actmty report The heanng was contmued to
July 23, 2012. (Exlnbﬂ; 23 and 364; Testnnony of the Appellant, Test]mony of Cl:uef Gates.)

43)  Before the §41 heanng was completed, on July 5, 2012 Chief Gates issued both _

~

the Appellant and Ferdinand orders requesting written responses and supporting documents as
part of the Department investigation by July 13, 2012. The orders provided:

e Do not tamper with or destroy any evidence; :

¢ Provide a written report that includes a complete, detailed response to the
following questions, with a separately numbered or lettered response to each
question;

= Provide, with your report, any “documents” that contain responsive or
relevant information, including copies of any text messages between you and
[Levesque] [William Ferdinand] [Fran Cass];

s Do not discuss this matter or your responses WIth anyone except your
legal]/union] representative and me;

s Submit the complete report 10 me no later than 12:00 noon on Friday, July 13,
2012;

¢ Ifrequested to do so, attend and answer questions at a follow-up mterwew;

o Tell the truth at all times, including in your response to the questions below

- and in any follow-up interview. Untruthfulness includes making false

statements and/or intentionally omitting significant facts or pertinent facts.

Your failure to follow these directives will subject you to discipline, up to and
inctuding dismissal. This is separate from and apart for discipline for any

misconduct determined in the underlying investigation.

(Exhibits 16 and 17.)
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44, | The Appellant subrmtted his resPonse on July 13, 2012 respondmg to each _

quest;lon Wlth the follomﬂg answer: |

| Absent a grant of i immunity from all District Attorneys WlthlIl the Commonwealth

- of Massachusetts and the Attorney General I decline to answer questions ..

- including all subparts based upon the Rights afforded me under Article 12 of the

. Magsachusetts Declaratlon of nghts C’amey v. Springfield, 401 Mass. 6 10
(1988). ‘ .
(Exhlblt 16A)
45 On Iuly 13, 2012 Ferdmand hand- delivered h_ts response to the chief. Ferdma_nd :

told Chief Gates that somethmg was bothermg h.tm a lot.and that he had to d1scuss it with hlIIl.

F erdmand }:evea.led that afiér the chief’s June 7, 2012 orders, but before the ﬁrst day of the §4l

' hea:rmg on June 28 2012 he had spoken to the Appellant He told the chief that he had

' dmclosed the substance of his interviews with Lt. Andrade and Sgt. Graham. (Exh1b1t 19;
Testimony of Chief Gates, lestimony of F erdmajad.)

46, In Ferdinand’s handwritten response, he stated that 011 May 23,2012, 1:02 p.m.,
: A‘he was at work at A-Prime on High Street. l?:erdinand wrote that he could not recall being
| stopped by the Appellant on that date, but he Was certain that lle had not handed over hlS driver’s
license and motor vehicle registration to the Appellant on that day. In his July 13, 2012 |
conversation Withthe chief, Ferdinand said that he interacted with the Appellant so frequently |
that he could not recall if a raetor vehicle stop lxad occurred on May 23, 2012, (Exhibits 18, 1‘9
aJ:td 24; Testimeny of Chief Gates, Testimony of Ferdjna.ncl.) .

4.7. ~ In his written response, Ferdinand documented that he was not speeding, nor was
he stopped by the Appellan_t on the moming of May 29, 2012 at Plympton and Thompson
S_treets. Ferdinand clid recall exchanging {ext messages with the Appellant on that moming, but

could not recall the exact time. Ferdinand reiterated in his conversation with the chief that he
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was certam that he was not stopped by the Appellant on May 29 2012 In hrs wntten respcnse
| Ferdlnand wrote that although he had related the substance cf hls mtcrv1ew w1th Lt Andrade
" with the Appellant, he had not chsclosed the substance of his mtervrew Wrth Cass (Exhlb1ts 18,
22 and 24, Testnnony of Chref Gates Test]rnony of Ferdrnand ) '

48. | On July 13 2012 zssued a Notlce of Addmonal Charge for Ongomg Dtsrnrssal

Heanng to the Appellant The second charge Was!

After [ had expressly ordered you not to do s0, you dlscussed with speclal pohce
officer William Ferdinand, a key witness, what he had told investigators in the

" investigation into whether you had falsely reported that Ferdinand had been
stopped by you during an overtime shift in order to meet the requirement that you -
make a certain nurnber of stops during the shift.”

_ (Exhlbrt 20.)
49.  Onthe second day of the §41 hearing, the Board proceeded with the second
charge in addition to the first charge. The Board voted to terrninate the Appeliant by a vote of 4-

1. (Exhibit 1.)

50.  On .August 6, 2012, the Board issued its decision and the following findings:

»  Middleborough Patrol Officer Adam Levesque falsely reported interactions
with two close friends, Wiiliam Ferdinand and Fran Cass, as “stops” under the
Click It or Ticket Grant.

s Levesque blatantly disobeyed Chief Gates’ June 7 2012 Order not to discuss
with Ferdinand the Department’s investigation of whether he had falsely
reported his interactions with Cass and Ferdinand a$ “stops™ under the Grant,
including discussions with Ferdinand what he had told Department
Investigators.

» Levesque’s conduct viclated several Department regulations, including the
reqmrement that an officer be truthful at all times and obey the order of a
superior ofﬁcer

z ~ On September 6, 2012, Chief Gates disciplined Ferdinand for discussing his Department
interviews with the Appellant, a violation of the Depariment Rules and Regulations, Section I B.
2. Orders. (See supra Finding of Fact 32.) Ferdinand was suspended from takmg details for two
weeks, from September 9 until September 14,2012. (Exhibit 29. ) :
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Accordingly, we find that there is just cause to dismiss Officer Levesque for his

misconduct in this maiter alone and/or in combination with the “last chance”
_provision of the Settlement Agreement/Last Chance Agreemen‘i he signed mth
~the Board in August, 2010. ~

(EXhlblt 1) (emphasm supphed)

51. © The Appe]lant filed an appeal with the Commission on August 10, 2012.

E (Exhlblts 38 and 39)

CONCLUSION AND ORDER
A4 Applzcable Legal Standards
" GL.c. 31, § 43, provides:
" If the commission by a preponderance of the evidence determines ’rhat'th_eré was
. just cause for an action taken against such person it shall affirm the action of the
appointing authority, otherwise it shall reverse such action and the person

‘concerned shall be returned to his position without loss of compensation or other

tights; provided, however, if the employee by a preponderance of evidence,

establishes that said action was based upon harmful error in the application of the
" appointing authority’s procedure, an error of law, or upon any factor or conduct

on the part of the employee not reasonably related to the fitness of the employee -

to perform in his position, said action shall not be sustained, and the person shall

be returned to his position without loss of compensation or other rights. The

commission may also modify any penalty imposed by the appointing authority.

An action is *justified” if it is “done upon adequate reasons sufficientily supported by
credible evidence, when weighed by an unprejudiced mind, guided by common sense and by
correct rules of law.” Commissioners of Civ. Serv. v. Municipal Ct. of Boston, 359 Mass. 211,
214 (1971, Cambridge v. Civil Serv. Comm'n, 43 Mass. App. Ct. 300, 304, rev. den., 426 12
Meass. 1102, (1997); Selectmen of Wakefield v. Judge of First Dist. Ct., 262 Mass. 477, 482
(i 928).. The Cpnu:nissibn determines justification for discipline by inquiring, “whether the

employee has.been guilty of substantial misconduct which adversely affects the public interest

" by impairing the efficiency of public service.” ‘School Comm. v. Civil Serv. Comm'n, 43 Mass.
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App Ct. 486 488 rev. den 426 Mass 1104 (1997) Murrayv Second DIS:“ Cr 389 Mass. 508

514 (1983)

The Appomtmg Authomy s burden of proof bya preponderance of the ev1dence is

satisfied “1f itis made to appear more ]J.kely or probable in the sense that actua.l belief in 1ts truth,
denVed from the evrdence, exists in the mind or minds of the tnbunal notw&ﬂlstenrlmg any |
doubts that may still Iinger there.” Tucker v‘ Pearlstein, 3347Mass 33 35-36 (1956)

“The eonnniseien’ stask ... is not to be accomphshed ona Wholly blank slate. After ma.k}ng its
- de-noxlr'o frndings of fact .. the comnnssmn does not act mthout regard to the previous dec1s1on
of t_lre [appointing authority], but rather decides Whether ‘there was reasonable justiﬁeatibn for

the action taken by the appointing authority in the circumstances found by the eommission to

have existed when -the'appointing guthority made its decision.” Falmouth v. C;rvzl Serv. Comm 'n,
447 Mass. 814, 823 (2006). See Watertown v, Arria, 16 Mass. App. CL. 331, 134, rev. den., 390 |
Mass. 1102 (1983) and cases cited. |

| Under Section 43, tne Commission is required “to conducr a de novo nearing».for-the
purnose of finding the facts anew.” Fajmaurﬁ v.\ Civil Serv. C’omm 'n, 447 Mass, §14, 823 (2006)
A and cases-cited. The role of the Comnﬁssion is to determine "whether the appointing authority |
: has sustained its burden of proving that there was reasonable Justlﬁcatzon for the action taken by
the appointing authonty " Cambr:dge v. Civil Serv. Comm’n, 43 Mass. App. Ct.-300, 304, rev,
den., 426 Mass. 1102, (1997). See also Leommster v. Stratton, 58 Mass. App. Ct. 726, 728, rev,
. den., 440 Mass. 1108 (2003); Police Dep’t of Bosr'on v. Collins, 48 Mass. App. Ct. 411, rev. den.
(2000); Mclsaac v. Civil Serv. Comm’n, 38 Mase App. Ct. 473, 477 (1995)_; Wdz‘errown V. Arrz‘a,.
16 Mass. App. Ct. 331, 390 Mass. 1102 (1983). ‘

The Commission is guided by “the principle of uniformity and the ‘equitable treatment of
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| : .su:mlarly 51tuated Jnchmduals [both mthm and across different appomt]ng authontles]” as We]l

as the “underlymg purpOSe of the eml service system ‘“to guard agamst political eonmderatlons

B favomtlsm a.nd btas n governmental employment de01s1ons ' E almouth v. Civil Serv. Comm’n,
447 Mass. 814 823 (2006) and cases cited. Even if there are past instanoes Where otber -

| employees recewed more lement sanctlons for snmlar misconduct, howeVer the Coznrmssmn is

: not charged Wlth a duty to ﬁne~tune employees suspensmns to ensure perfect umformlty See
Bosz‘on Police Dep tv. Collins, 48 Mass App Ct. 408, 412 (2000) |

“The * power accorded the commission to modlfy penaltles must not be confused wtth the
power to inlpose penalties ab initio, Whieh is a power aceorded the appointing authority,” ”
Falmouth v. Civil Serv. Comm’ n, 61 Mass, App. Ct. 796, 800 (2004) quotmg Police Comm s ¥,
Civil Serv., Comm 1, 39 Mass. App. Ct. 594, 600 {1596). Unless the Commission’s findings of
Tfact differ significantly from those reported by the appomtmg authonty or 1nte1'pret the relevant . |
lawina substannally different way, the commission is not ﬁee to “substitute its judgment” for
that of the appointing autho_rity, and “cannot modify a penalty. on ther‘basis of essentially sitnila:r
fact ﬁndi.ng without an adequate explanation.” F ezlmouz‘h v. Civil Serv. Comm ‘n, 447 Maes. 814,
823 (2006). See also Leeman and Pagluica v. Haverhill, 26 MCSR 327 (2013).
“Ttis well estabhshed that the Comtmssmn should give great Welght to the prowsmns ofa

Last Chance Agreement a volunta.ry agreement between an employer and employee which,

typically in lieu of immediate termjnation, effectively puts an employee on notice that any

further discipline will result in his or her tennination. The Comxnission does not make decisions

in al tfa_cuum, however, and it is appropriate to consider the circumstances that gave rise to this

particular agreement.” Davis v. Newron, 20 MCSR 402, 405-06 (200‘7).‘ |

Thave reviewed the evidence and the testimony. I find that that the Town of
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Middleborough was justified in terminating the-employmen‘t of Adamievesque. The Appellant *.

violated diverse Depaftment Rules and Regulations that were serious enough to warrant
~ discipline in the form of suspension, thusﬁ-iggering the termination clause in the Last Chance
Agreement. The Appellant failed to promptly and accurately complete and submit his May 23 -

and May 29, 2012 grant activity repoﬁs under the Click-it Qr'Ticket- prograrm as iequired, failed

to truthfully state the facts therein; discussed a case outside the Department without permission

'from.th'e chief, fampered With ewitﬁess failed to speak' the truth a;c the June 23 and July 28,2012
| 841 hearmg before the Board of Seiectmen and engaged in misconduct Wthh reﬂeeted dlscredzt
upon him as a pohce officer, upon spec1al police officer Ferdinand, and upon the Mlddleborough
Pol;ce Department.

| At all times relevant to this matter, the Appella.nt was already subj ect to an August 6,
2010 Last Chance Agreement There is no dispute that on May 23, May 29 and .T une 7, 20 12 ‘che
LCA was in full force and effect. There is also no dispute that the Appellant was subject to the
chief’s iune 7, 2012 order that he refrain from any contact with witnesses to the'May 23 and
May 29, 2612 events. Any eonducf that warranted a suspension, ineluding & violation of the ,
terms of the LCA, gave the Town just cause to terminate the Appellant. According to the terms
of the LCA, any‘appeai of the discharge would be limited to whether the underlying comducf had
in fact taken place. (Exhibits 2, 3 and 20))

The Appellant entered into the Last Chaﬁce Agreement in lieu of termination after a
botched D.ep artment drug investigation. The Department had placed a GPS device onto a drug
dealer’s vehicle during a drug in\-festigaﬁon in January 2010, After the Department lost the ability

to track the vehicle, the drug dealer’s cousin informed officers that he had let the drug dealer know
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henfas under survexllance aﬁer bemg SO mformed by the Appe]iant The Department was not able
to recovet the GPS devrlce CExhiblt 3) 7 | |
Aﬂer the Appellant was suspended the Town agreed not to pursue further discipline in
con31derat10n of the Appellant’s acceptance of the d1sc1plme and his abtdmg by the terms of the
LCA. Per the LCA the Appellant demed that be had intentionally alerted the drug dealer to. the
Department mvestlgatlon but acknowledged that he had shared details about the drug |
: Jnves‘ngatlon with his wife in leatlon of Department rules and regulatlons _ _
R In his testlmony before DALA the Appellant argued agamst the valldlty of the August 6, |
2010 LCA Tlns is not the forum for such an argument The Appellant entered into the ' '
Agreement With the advice of counsel, and the time for such negotiation and argmnent has long
passed. This hearing’s purpose was the determination of whether the Appellant had conducted
~ himself in suell a manner that dlscip]ine was necessary. “The commission cannot su‘nstitute its
judgment for that of the eity regarding the wisdom or necessity of LCAs ...” Attieboro v; Civz'l |
Serv. Comm’n et dl. . No. 13-P-797 (Mass. App. Ct. Jan 22, 2014).* The Appellant signed the
LCA; aclmowledging that he understood lts terms and promising to abide by_them. This he has
failed to do. | | | |
Less than two years- after siénjng the LCA, the Appellant was charged with two charges:

Charge 1 - false documentation of traffic grant enforcement activity; and Charge 2 - violation of

3 William O’ Connell.

4 O°Connell v. Attleboro, 25 MCSR 325 (2012), aff*d Atdleboro v. Massachusetts Civ. Serv.
Comm’n et al., No. 2012-908 (Bristol Sup. Ct. April 9, 2013). The Appellant was terminated
after he refused to enter into a last chance agreement. The Commissiod modified the discipline
to a ninety-day suspension on the grounds of progressive discipline and the superior court
affirmed. The Appeals Court reversed, finding that the commission “improperly substituted its
judgment for that of the city ... .” Aitleboro v. Civil Serv. Comm’n et al., No. 13-P-797 (Mass.
App, Ct. Jan. 22, 2014).- ' ' , L
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the chief $ otder to refrni.n-fro-m -co'ntaot With \adtneeses

The Appellant was anestlgated after another ofﬁcer not1eed that he had pulled over two ‘ A.
of hig ﬁ‘lends as pa:rt of the Chck 1t or Ticket program. Not only were the fr1ends both town
officials and Well known to ofﬁcers in the Department one of them was a special pohce officer _l _
in the Depal'tntent. " | ‘

A Department investi‘gationb revealed that the Appellant’s Mn}t 23,2012 doournented stop
of SPO and Chairman :of the Parks Conlmissi'on Ferdinand was not based ona tnotor Vehicie

stop, but o ona telephone call. The Appellant had called Ferdinand whlle he was workmg at A- :
Prime, and his motor Vehlcle Was parked in the ges station’s parking lot. Durmg the personal
'telephone call, the Appellant mentioned Ferdinand’s broken driver’s side wmdow, which he had
lcnow_n a'oout for along time. | |

The Depai‘l:ment mvestigation revealed that the Appellant’s May 29, 2012 reported stop
of Ferdinand was not based on & motor ‘\;’ehiele stop, but ona sequence of messages texted while
Ferdinand was driving to the Appeliant’s house to house-sit while Workmlen made repairs.

The Appellant’e May 28, 2012 reported stop of Park Superi.ntendent Cass was not based
on a motor vehicle stop, laut on a visit to Cass while he was working at the Park Department.
During their conversation, the Appellant notioed that Cass’s parked vehicle-was missing a shock
absorber. Cass said that his father lttad not ltad the time to fix it. The Appellant told Cass that he

“was going to l1st him down as a “stop” under the grant. Cass acquiesced after being reassured
that his information would not be listed in the Department compurter.

The Appellant’s filing of false reports violated Department Rules end l{egu.lations

| Seetlon LC Le, which requires prompt accurate completion and submission of all zeports;

Section1. C. 1. e, which requires that an officer shall truthfully state the facts in all reports; and
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| Sec’non I C. 2 b whrch prohrblts any type of mrsconduct which reﬂects d1sored1t upon a.A -
| member as a pohce ofﬁcer fellow ofﬁcers or the department he serves. (Fmdmg of Fact 29 )

I find that the Appellant subm.rtted false reports that Would have entitled ]:um to pay that AA
he had not eamed rmphcated a fellow ofﬁoer in his rcusconduct and plaoed the Departrnent in
danger of bemg removed from the EOPS Chck—rt or T1cket program for malfeasance The |
Town s removal fro_n; the_ Cllcknlt or Ticket program would have reduoed pubh_o safety in
I\/[lddleborough - | | | - o

The Appellant’s ﬁhng of maccurate reports prowded Just cause for the appomtmg
authority to issue dlscrp]me moludmcr suspensron thereby triggering the Town srightto d1srmss
the Appellant under the terms of the LCA. The ﬁlmg of a false report in and of itself may
| provide just causo for the termination of a police oﬁicor. J‘vrozeleski v. Chicopee, 21 MCSR 676
- (2008). See also Meaney v. Woburn, 18 MCSR 1291, 133 (2005) (long term officer properly
terminate& J'.n par“t for submitting false reports); Layne v. Tewksbury, 20 MCSR 372 (2007)
(drscharge of police officer for filing false reports to cover up his conduct is proper) Grirham .
rEasron Docket Nos. D-05-293, CS-07-99, Recommended Decision, (July 16, 2007), adopted by
F z’naf Decision, 20 MCSR 534 (2007), aff’d Grinham v. Civil Serv. Comm " etal,’ No. 07-
4189-A (Suff. Sup. Ct. Nov. 20, 2008), aff'd Grinham v. Easton et al.?, No. 09-P-1163 (Mass
App. Ct. June 4, 2010) (officerl who filed false reports and lied about his conduct was properly
discharged). | | |

In an order hand-delivered on .Tlrne 7, 2012, the Appellant was ordered to surrender 5_11

property of the Department, including his badge, police identification card and firearm. The

Town of Easton,
6 Civil Service Commission.
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order also dJrected the Appellant not to have -any eontact cllrectly or Indlrectly with vlatnesses
men‘aomng specrﬁcally Ferdmand and Cass. The Appellant was also ordered not to chscuss the
matter Wlth anyone but tlre chief or his own legal counsel (F mdlng of Fact 31. )
A few days after June 7 2012 the Appellant contacted Ferdrnand and 1nv1tecl hnn over
on the ruse that the farmly clog was dymg When Ferdinand amVed the Appellant told him that
‘ he was on admmastratlve leave asa result of improper motor velncle stops, and that hrs job was
on the line. ‘The Appellant then asked Ferdmand Whether he had been mterv1ewed Ferdrnand
 was reluctant to pr0v1de the Jnfonnanon that the Appellant was seekmg When the Appellant
asked Ferdinand What he had sa1d Ferdmand agam demurred. When the Appellant pressed him
a third time, Ferdinand told him everythmg that had‘tr_anspn:ed in his investigative interview with
the Department. o
| The Appellant’s bellavior _arnounted {0 witness intimidation and witness tampering. He
outranked Ferdinand withj.n the Department, The Appellant used their years of friendship and
family connectzons to pressure Ferdinand, whose dlsclosures put them both in VlOl&lIlOIl of
Department orders. The Appellant’s behavior is not mitigated by his argument that he violated |
the chief’s order agamst witness contact because he was despondent, and needed to talk to lns
best friend Ferdinand about it'. _

.I find that the Appellant’s conduct violated the General Poliey of the Department, tlated ‘
February 3, 1969, which prohibited a police officer from discussing any case outside the
Department without prlor permission lErom the Chief of Police. It also violated the chief’s June
7,2012 order te the Appellant, prohibiting contact with witnesses, lafhich had specifically
mentioned F erdinand' by name. The order did not allow for any deviation. (Findings of Fact 6

land31.)
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On .Tune 28 2012 the Appellant testiﬁed o the first day of lllS §4l heanng The
Appellant testlﬁed that he had rmstakenly llsted the loeation of the May 29 2012 F erdmand
| motor vehicle stop as Plympton and Thompson Streets mstead of Plympton and Plymouth
. Streets. I infer that the Appellant’s testimony differed from his grant ac‘awty reports because he
had already spoken to Ferdmand and learned that F erdinand had told the Department’
investigators that he had traveled to the Appe]lant’s home v1a Plymouth Street that day.
(Findings of Fact 25 and 34. ) | -

The §41 hearlng was con‘onued to July 23 2012.

On July 13, 2012, the chief learned from Ferdinand that he had apoken to the Appellant
and disclosed everytlgjng he had told Department investigato;s before the Appellant had ieetiﬁed
at the §41 hearing. On July 16, 2012, Chief Gates issued a Notice of Additional Charge for
Onooing Dismissal Hearing. The chief ohargecl that after he expressly ordered the Appella_nt in
lns June 7, 2012 order to stay away from witnesses, the Appellant contacted Ferdmand and
elicited his testz:fnony fo Department investi crators

On Fuly 23, 2012, the second day of hean'ng, the Appellant 'tes‘[iiied that he understood
the chief’s June 7, 2012 order prohi'biting witness contact, and that he had made a ;‘terrible
mistake.” On July 23,20 12, the Board voted to f{ermi:nate the Appellant by' vote of 4-1. The
 Appellant appealed to the Con:nnission. - |

I find that the Appellant testified untruthfully on the first day of the §41 hea.nng n
wolatlon of Department Rule and Regulation Section I. C. 1. e., which requn‘es that an officer
“shall t‘utliﬁilly state the facts in all reports as well as when he 'appearslbefore_ any Judicial,
_ departmental or other ofl?i_cial investigation, hearing,_trial or proeeeding. ...” His untruthfill

teati.inony was also in violation of Section L. C. 2. b., which prohibits any type of misconduct
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| {vhieh 'reflects '&is-credit epeel'a feeleber as-e'poliee of.écer, upon fe]-lewi ofﬁeers or tﬁe
depa:{tment he serves (Fmdmg of Fact 29 ) |
The Appellant’s conduct in the mstances of wﬂness tampermg and his later
untmthfu]ness at ﬂ1e §41 heanng is s0 egregious that I find that they prowded sufﬂc1ent reason
fo:r his tennmatlon even in the absence ofa LCA The Appellant’s behavmr laeked mtegnfy He
comported hlmself mthout mahmty, common sense, or good judgment Desplte the chance that
- the Town extended to the Appe]lant on August 6, 201 0 the Appellant has amply demonstrated
that he cannot remam a thdleborough pohee ofﬁeer |
| In his tes’znnony before DALA, the Appellant argued that due to hlS lack of tratning, he
believed that his May 23 and May 29, 2012 interactions with Ferdinand and Cass were “motor
vehicle stops.” The Ai)pellaﬁt a'ise admifted that he had entered Ferdinand’s information on a
grant activi‘ey sheef dur:iﬂg' previous Click-it or Ticket progrems. He evaded discovery on those
occasions,‘ Apﬁl 10, 2009 and May 26, 2101, because he had only listed Ferdinand’s Iicense-
plate num‘eer. The Apéellapf"s actions diminished the efficacy of the Click-it or Tieket program
to reinforeethe use ef ‘s_e_at belts, a lifesaving eaeaeure.
| The Appellant testiﬁed that if he knew of defects in moter vehicles, he was authoﬁzed to
enter the owners’ infoﬁ:nation on a grant activity report as p.art of the Click-it or Ticket program.
He testified that on May 23_, 2012, Fer'diﬁand had a broken window, that'oe May 29, 201;2 J
Fei:dina_nd was speeding, and fhat on May 29, 20 12, Cass had a brokee shock absorber. He
argued that the primary purpose of Click-It or Tieket was traffic enfercement. The Appeliant
had worked Ciiek~1t or Ticket overtime in the past, and was presuma.bly aware of the purpose of
the grant: the cheeldng of motor vehicle occupants for seat belt compliance. Iﬁnd that the -
Appellant’s tesﬁmony in this regard was more evidence ef his untruthﬁ;}ness..
: ‘ \ :
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- The Appe]lant also argued that there was ammus between hlm and the chlef due to his |
umon act1v1t1es He a:rgued that tbe cluef dehberately calculated hls Vaeatlon tlme mcorrecﬂy
because of hlS umon actwity and also relmbursed h1m at the regular wage mstead of overtune for _

| pnsoner watoh ata hosp1tal However the ewdenoe shows thet the Appellant did not hold any
leadershsp roles in his union. He never met w1ﬂ1 the c]:uef he Town Admlmstrator the Board of
Selectmen or any supenor officers on behalf of ’che union. The Appellant Wwas never more than a
union mem’oer I find that the chief bore no bias towards the Appellant

The Appellant s self—aggranmzement was mamfest durmg the ]P drug mvestxgatlon
which led to the LCA in the first place. Although only a patrol ofﬁcep, the Appellant testified
that he worked with the detectives and performed deteotive—lewzel work dul‘lng that investigation.

' He testified that he had the most solved cases, the most arrests, and the most activity of all the
police officers in the Department. e tes‘ﬂﬁed that it was his goal to beoome a detective.

The Appellant compla_lned that he teceived disparate treatment in comparison to other
police officers who also submitted inaolcurate grant ac’_civlty report's.lr However, no other police
officer stood in the Appellant’s shoes. The Appellent was the only police officer who was
subj ecttoa Last Chance Agreement. No other police officer documented a motor vehicle stop in

' the Click-it or Tiol{et prograpn based on a telephone call or a text mes‘sage. No other police
officer implicated a fellow officer or Town ofﬁciels 'in lnaocungate grant activity reports_. No other
po]loe officer recorded interactions with friends as motor‘ vehicle stops. A

Althougl:l he was subject to a Last Chance Agreement, the Appellant participated in
misconduct that was not only ﬁaudulent; but easily discoverable. Ferdinand and Cass were well-
known individuals. There was no penalty for fa;lhng to complete twelve stops in four hours yet

he was compelled to falsify records His conduct was unbecommg an ofﬁcer of the
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The Appellant was not Jntervrented dunng the Department mvestrgatron before. he was

.placed on adnnmstratwe leave on June 7, 2012 and 1ssued a Notlce of Charges on June 28 2012

On July 5, 2012 the chref 1ssued orders to F erdinand and the Appellant seeking more |
rnforrnatron However the Department mvestlgatlon had been completed and the § 41 heanng

- ‘WELS ongorng. There. had already been one day of testnnony on June 28, 2012, and the second
, | _ day of hearlng was scheduled for J uly 23, 2012 F erdrnand subnntted his response to the chref
on July 13 2012 The Appellant submitted his response to the chlef also on July 13, 2012
refusmg 10 answer mthout nnn:rumty from all District Attorneys within the_ Commonwealth of
Massachusetts and the Attorney General, based upon his rights under Article 12 of the
Massachnsetts Declaratlon of Rrghts The chief’s order was not for a separate rnvestlgatron since
he added the second charge to the appointing authority hearing already i process. The
Appeilant was already testiﬁdng in the §41 hearing, and any further information the chief sought
could have been elicited from the Appellant under oath. Ido not find that the Appellant failed to
be forthcorning in his answers in this regard pursuant to Rules and Regulations Section LC.le.

{ find that'the Appellant’s misconduct Warranted suspension. The Town has to prove
nothing t"urther;r and thus had sufficient grounds to terminate the -Appellant pursuant to 'the LCA.
See Gilligan v. Quincy, 25 MCSR 516 (2012). There is no evidence that the City’s decision was
based on political j'considerations, favoritism or bias. Thus the_ Town’s decision to terminate the

Appellant is “not subject to cor.rection by the Commission.” Cambridge, 43 Mass. App. Ct. at
305,
Based on the preponderance of credible evrdence presented at the hearing, [ conclude that

the Town of Marlborough had }ust cause to terminate Adam Levesque. Aocordmgly,
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recommend thaf tﬁe apf;eal be (_iismissed. ,7

SO ORDERED
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DATED: FEB2 4 200
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